
 - 1 - 

MINUTES 
 

BOARD OF BENTON COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 

Regular Board Meeting 
Tuesday, April 7, 2015, 9:00 a.m. 
Benton County Planning Annex 

1002 Dudley Avenue, Prosser, WA 
 
Present: Chairman Jerome Delvin 
  Commissioner Shon Small 
  Commissioner James Beaver 
  Deputy County Administrator Loretta Smith Kelty 
  Clerk of the Board Cami McKenzie 
 
Absent:   County Administrator David Sparks (Vacation) 
 
Benton County Employees Present During All or a Portion of the Meeting: Adam Fyall, 
Sustainable Development Manager; Public Works Manager Daniel Ford; Assistant County 
Engineer Matt Rassmussen; Planning Manager Mike Shuttleworth; DPA Ryan Brown; Clerk 
Josie Delvin; District Court Administrator Jacki Lahtinen; Bob Woody, IT Department; GIS 
Manager Mary Phillips; Linda Robb and Gordon Cable, Human Services; Gary Matthews and 
Dan Waggoner, Facilities; Darryl Banks and Jennifer Bowe, Juvenile; Amanda Garcia, Auditor; 
Assessor Bill Spencer; Treasurer Duane Davidson; Dan Mack, Public Works; Superior Court 
Administrator Pat Austin; RJ Lott, Planning.   
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
The Minutes of March 31, 2015 were approved.   
 
Review Agenda 
 
The Crisis Response discussion was moved to the last scheduled item on the agenda.   
 
Consent Agenda 
 
MOTION:   Commissioner Beaver moved to approve the consent agenda items “a” through “w”, 
pulling “j” (Harms Engineering) for discussion and pulling “m” (Public Works Organizational 
Chart).   Commissioner Small seconded and upon vote, the Board approved the following: 
 
Commissioners 

a. Letter to Franklin County Commissioners re Counties’ Contribution to Fund Superior 
Court 

b. Letter to Franklin County Commissioners re Counties’ Contribution for Juvenile 
Detention 

 



 - 2 - 

District Court 
c. Lease Agreement w/Xerox Corporation for Three Copiers 
d. Line Item Transfer, Fund No. 0131-101, Dept. 000 

Facilities 
e. Award of Superior Court Jury Seating to Brutzman’s, Inc. 

Human Services 
f. Amended Agreement w/K Larsen for Community Prevention Coordinator Services  

Information Technologies   
g. Purchase of Dell Tower 5810Workstation   
h. Establishing Updated Charge Back Procedure; Rescinding Resolution 98-036 
i. Solution Support Services Agreement w/Ciber, Inc. for Crimes Software     

Office of Public Defense 
k. District Court Public Defense Agreement w/S Johnson  

Planning 
l. Short Plat Vacation ~ SPV 2014-006 

Public Works 
n. Authorizing Repair Services From Mel’s Intercity Collision, Inc.  
o. Purchase Authorization of Ford Explorer from Columbia Ford   
p. Purchase of Diesel Fuel from Byrnes Oil Company 

Sheriff 
q. Interlocal Agreement w/State of WA DSHS for Juvenile Justice & Rehabilitation Admin.    
r. Amended Memorandum of Understanding w/WA State Dept of Corrections of Coyote 

Ridge Corrections Center 
s. Line Item Transfer, Fund No. 0126-101, Dept. 000 
t. Line Item Transfer, Fund No. 0000-101, Dept. 121 

Superior Court 
u. Purchase Authorization from the Trial Improvement Fund  
v. Line Item Transfer, Fund No. 0000-101, Dept. 138 
w. Line Item Transfer, Fund No. 0000-101, Dept. 123 

 
Item “j” Contract w/Harms Engineering Inc. for Desi gn of Pre-Treatment Wastewater 
System  
 
Commissioner Beaver said he had no problem with approving the contract but was concerned it 
was not included in the budget and wanted the funding to be found within the current budget. 
 
Commissioner Small said if they ended up needing a budget adjustment during the second year, 
they could look at that.   
 
Mr. Darryl Banks (from the audience) said they had no idea what the cost would be prior to the 
budget being approved and they still needed to negotiate with the City of Kennewick. 
 
Chairman Delvin suggested in the future they put in a number to place hold the project so a 
supplement was not needed.  He said they would approve but requested they manage their 
current budget and would review it the end of the biennium and see where they were at. 
 



 - 3 - 

Jennifer Bowe (from the audience) said they would have to request a supplement at Franklin 
County since they were on a one-year budget cycle.   
 
MOTION :  Commissioner Small moved to approve the agreement with Harms Engineering, Inc. 
for the design of a pre-treatment wastewater system at the Juvenile Justice Center.  Additionally, 
if an adjustment was needed at the end of the biennium, they would look at that.  Commissioner 
Beaver seconded and upon vote, the motion carried.   
 
Public Hearing - Short Plat Vacation – SPV 2015-002 
 
R.J. Lott presented the Short Plat Vacation request by Brett and Robin Tiller to vacate two utility 
easements off Short Plat 1647.  All property owners and concerned agencies were notified and 
no comments were received.  He said it was the Planning Department’s recommendation to 
approve the vacation of the two 10-foot utility easements as requested.   
 
As there was no one present to testify, the public hearing was closed.   
 
MOTION:   Commissioner Small moved to approve the vacation of the 10-foot utility easement 
located over the West 10 feet of previous Lot 3 and the Southwesterly 10 feet of previous Lot 2 
of Short Plat 1647, records of Benton County.  Commissioner Beaver seconded and upon vote, 
the motion carried.    
 
Bid Opening – Official County Newspaper 
 
The following bid was received for the official county newspaper:   
 
Tri-City Herald 
        Mon-Fri Sat-Sun 
Column-Inch rate, first insertion, including online:  $17.25  $17.70 
Column-Inch rate, additional insertions:   $15.50  $15.85 
 
The Clerk of the Board indicated they would review the bid and bring back a recommendation.   
 
Request for Proposal – Assessment & Taxation System  
 
Treasurer Duane Davidson said the Property Assessment and Tax System (ATS) was a priority 
project they brought to the Board last year and it had a placeholder in the capital budget and they 
were now ready to proceed with the RFP.  He said the current systems had been in place for 17 
years.  Mr. Davidson indicated the RFP had been thoroughly reviewed by IT, GIS, Treasurer, 
and Assessor and it was now under PA review. 
 
Assessor Bill Spencer said it was a good opportunity to look at new software since technology 
had changed significantly and it was worth taking a peak to see what was out there.  He said he 
had been working on this extensively since he came into office and they were ready to move 
ahead.   
 



 - 4 - 

The Board indicated it was in agreement with moving forward.   
 
Capital Projects Update 
 
Ms. Smith Kelty said she had representatives from the Facilities Department, Design West and 
G2 Construction.   
 
Prosser HVAC Upgrade and Façade Renovation 
 
Gary Matthews, Facilities Department and Beth Bailey, Design West talked about the 
Courthouse project and the proposed change orders. 
 
Change Order No. 2 
 
Mr. Matthews said Changer Order No. 2 had to do with the materials and replacement of all 
sidewalks.  The original bid was to replace the stairs on the north and east/west sides and the 
sidewalk immediately adjacent to those in front.  Then it was proposed since they were doing the 
renovation that the sidewalks and curbing around the building were in poor shape so it was 
suggested to get a bid to replace it all.  The total for that renovation would be $57,234.23 and 
would include demolition ground prep, the subgrade compaction and reinforcement of the rebar, 
and any landscaping and repair work.    
 
MOTION:  Commissioner Beaver moved to approve the Resolution Authorizing Change Order 
No. 2 from G2 Commercial Construction, Inc. for construction of the Courthouse HVAC and 
Façade Renovations in the amount of $57,234.23 plus tax. Commissioner Small seconded and 
upon vote, the motion carried.   
 
Change Order No. 3 
 
Mr. Matthews said this had to do with the HVAC redesign.  The original plan was to provide 
core penetration in the flooring for the air supply duct and that was assuming they had concrete 
beam supports.  However, it turned out they had flat slab and boring a 27-inch hole in a flat slab 
with just rebar support was not a good idea structurally.  He said a plan was put in place to 
develop some type of reinforcing structure and that plan was in turn abandoned in lieu of 
providing two 8-inch inch penetrations at a set distance apart which would require new ducting, a 
new type of air handler, more and specialized smoke dampeners, some plumbing redesign, 
interior modifications, sound dampening, new conduit and wiring, etc.   
 
Chairman Delvin asked Ms. Bailey to discuss the flooring issue and why it was not discovered 
originally.   
 
Ms. Bailey said the original 1926 drawings showed reinforced concrete beams but unfortunately 
they were not where they needed them to be.  There were other drawings without much detail 
that indicated there was a reinforcing system (spiral mushroom system that was patented). Once 
into the project the contractor noticed within a couple of weeks on site that there were not any 
concrete beams so the support system that was developed could not be utilized.  The first 



 - 5 - 

reengineering change was to simply put a flat slab of steel underneath the floor, however, it 
would have been extremely disruptive to the electrical systems and other existing systems in 
place.  The contractor said it would be an additional $120,000 and 50 days delay but it was the 
tip of the iceberg in terms of cost.  The electrical systems would have been 2 ½ times that cost to 
upgrade and an additional 6-8 weeks.  Once it was all laid out and analyzed by the contractor, 
that plan was abandoned and another engineering decision made to put in the small 8-inch holes 
in the slab which required no reinforcing whatsoever and that was the proposed change order.   
 
Commissioner Small asked if that process had started and Ms. Bailey said the contractor 
received a notice to proceed on March 16.   
 
MOTION :  Commissioner Small moved to approve the Resolution Authorizing Change Order 
No. 3 from G2 Commercial Construction, Inc. for construction of the Courthouse HVAC and 
Façade Renovations in the amount of $73,258.34 plus tax.  Commissioner Beaver seconded. 
 
Discussion 
 
Chairman Delvin commented that it was an old building and once you get in you find things. 
 
Upon vote, the motion carried.   
 
Change Order No. 4 
 
Mr. Matthews said it had to do with the brick mortar repointing, waterproofing and epoxy repair 
of the foundation.  The original bid was limited to 25% or less of the brick joints and centered 
around the renovation.  Once the contractor was working on it a little more, it was discovered the 
mortar was worse than originally thought.  Basically all the mortar above the terra cotta ban for 
the second and third floors was moderate to heavy deterioration and he thought the number 
worked out to 70-80%, but once you get to that point it was recommended to do 100%.  Also, the 
foundation had 55 linear feet of cracking and some of it had been repaired before and not 
repaired correctly.  There was an original quote to repair the foundation for $6,300 and the 
original bid for the additional repointing was $176,800 but that price was negotiated down to 
$120,000 and included the epoxy repair (which would have been an additional $6,300).   
 
Chairman Delvin asked about the grant and whether there was any leeway in the grant amount 
and Ms. Smith Kelty said there was not.  This additional money would come out of the capital 
budget.     
 
MOTION:   Commissioner Small moved to approve the Resolution Authorizing Change Order 
No. 4 from G2 Commercial Construction, Inc. for construction of the Courthouse HVAC and 
Façade Renovations in the amount of $120,735.48 plus tax.  Commissioner Beaver seconded and 
upon vote, the motion carried.   
  



 - 6 - 

 
Change Order No. 5 
 
Mr. Matthews said this change order had to do with construction delays for additional pay to the 
contractor for 35 days at $1700 per day.  He said the initial overage was estimated at 52 days but 
that was worked down and final negotiation was 35 days.   
 
Commissioner Small asked what the delay was and who was responsible for that.  Mr. Matthews 
said it had to do with the floor penetrations and going from a 27 to 8-inch and all the redesign 
work around that.  He said that was critical path work so once that was disrupted it affected 
everything else.  There were a lot of jobs and they did as much as they could around that but 
those delays really could not be prevented.  The smoke dampeners were a special order item and 
they were out four weeks and also the time considered in the structural engineer designing the 
original proposal to support the 27-inch holes (that time was lost) and then the new design came 
about (and the time for that), and then the procurement of equipment and everything that 
followed.   
 
Chairman Delvin asked about a contingency and Ms. Smith Kelty said there was not a 
contingency (it was talked about but it was not agreed upon), so they would pay for this out of 
capital. 
 
Mr. Matthews commented that he made this sound a little simple but it was pretty complicated 
and fairly complex.   
 
Commissioner Small asked how long it took from the time they knew they had a floor issue (in 
January) until going forward and how much more time until the HVAC was completed.  Mr. 
Matthews said with the penetrations in there now they were doing the ductwork, the firewalling, 
and the insulation since they got the notice to proceed.   
 
Ms. Bailey said she believed it was about 62 calendar days since they first knew about the floor 
issue until they got their notice to proceed on March 16.  Mr. Matthews said the plan was to be  
done by June 29 on the Courthouse section to meet the grant requirements and then they would 
start the HVAC renovation on the newer section.   
 
MOTION :  Commissioner Beaver moved to approve the Resolution Authorizing Change Order 
No. 5 from G2 Commercial Construction, Inc. for construction of the Courthouse HVAC and 
Façade Renovations in the amount of $59,500.00 plus tax.  Commissioner Small seconded and 
upon vote, the motion carried. 
 
Commissioner Beaver said he was of the opinion that someone should have known about this if 
they were in the business of remodeling.  Commissioner Small commented that it was more than 
just the project but that employees were in trailers and constituents were trying to get through the 
maze and the Commissioners were taking a lot of heat for the situation.   
 
Ms. Bailey said the schedule delays were as portrayed by Mr. Matthews but she wanted to point 
out a few things: the masonry work had progressed quicker than estimated due to the mild 



 - 7 - 

winter; the contractor was asked to provide means and methods to expedite the work and they 
were doing that; the work on the south building would be prioritized to get the Auditor back in 
place as soon as possible; the contractor also provided estimates to work weekends which could 
save 2-3 weeks and would cost $66,000; and they were on track to meet the grant fund deadline.   
She said that no designer wanted to find what they found but they did their due diligence; the 
engineer was very focused on the roof, the duct work and electrical lines were in the way and it 
wasn’t obvious.  She said she wanted to put some perspective on the cost.  The original cost 
estimate was $2.1 million and G2 Construction came in at $1,627,000 which was well below the 
competitors.  The total project to date was still under $2 million including the $57,000 for the 
sidewalks that were not in the original scope.   
 
The Board requested updates and Ms. Smith Kelty said they planned on monthly updates to the 
Board.  
 
Jail Security (Opto) and Cameras 
 
Dan Waggoner said they were in the design phase now and the architect (Latta Tech) had a 
deadline of April 24 to complete the drawings and bid specs.  Once that was complete, they 
would make sure it was accurate, and then they would move on to the bidding process.  He said 
the project replaced the control system in the jail, the entire camera and intercom system and 
badge reader system; they were reviewing their initial drawings to make sure all the details were 
there that they knew of.  They were adding 220 cameras to the court side, the parking lot and the 
jail and would be defining the things that were needed versus the things they wanted.  He added 
that he would be attending a security conference next week (the largest in the world) with Rob 
Guerrero so they could look specifically at the camera technology and they were doing their best 
to keep within the original budget.   
 
For the timeline he said it might be a month of review after they received the documentation, a 
couple of months to select a contractor once they started the bid process, and hopefully within 2-
3 months after that they could start installation. 
 
Juvenile Renovation/Mental Health Addition 
 
Ms. Smith Kelty said there would be an update by Juvenile at the April 14 meeting so they 
would not be discussing that today. 
 
Ms. Smith Kelty said they had a contract for official drawings out to legal for review and it 
would be going to Integrus for its review and signature and back to the Board for approval.  
 
Chairman Delvin asked that the Sheriff attend so they could have the discussion relating to 
changes for law enforcement that the State was making and how it was affecting operations to 
make sure they weren’t building something they didn’t need.   Ms. Smith Kelty stated she had 
been working with the Undersheriff closely on this project and would make sure they came 
before the Board to have that discussion.    
 
  



 - 8 - 

Crisis Response Unit Discussion 
 
Linda Robb and Gordon Cable said they wanted to address their concerns to the Board regarding 
the rumors they heard that the counties were considering moving Crisis Response from a public 
agency to a private agency.  She said she spoke to Commissioners Beaver and Small about it but 
had not yet had a chance to talk to Commissioner Delvin.   
 
Ms. Robb talked about some of the impacts of moving to a private entity including the following: 

 
• Mental Health, Medicaid and State Only funds – primarily for the Crisis Response Center 

and paid for the staff and rent on the building.  $182,179 also paid for admin costs for the 
financial person, secretary and her position; that money would go away should the Crisis 
Response Center make a move to private entity. 

• Federal block grant money for the service being provided in the County in the amount of 
$245,891 annually – used primarily to assist those mentally ill folks not otherwise 
covered.  She didn’t know if that money would follow to a private entity. 

• Crisis was moved and now provided centralized consolidated services at a new facility.  
That new lease expired on April 30, 2021 and cost $118,000 approximately/year.  

• Spent $302,000 into the electronic records medical program; did not believe that would 
transfer to another agency and it was very specific to their needs (2/3 complete - still 
owed additional money this year) 

• $60,000 spent on new furniture for the new building and $75,000 on remodeling that 
building. 

• She said it was her understanding one of the concerns of the County was liability issues.  
She said that while the RSN was the basic administrator, the counties contracted for 
services and would still have a responsibility.  She said this staff has dealt with many 
liability issues that have not been brought forward because they were effectively dealt 
with and having Crisis under the Counties, they would have constant access to her and 
Gordon Cable.   

• Previously it was private and it was moved due to a conflict of interest. 
• Jail program with the Benton County Jail – it has been looked at and admired by other 

counties.  Lourdes was providing case management and Comprehensive Mental Health 
was providing the medication management in the jail system.  Additionally, the DMHP 
position was currently paid for by the millage funds but those would stay with the County 
and not follow that contract should it leave the County’s control.   

• Other groups have been very appreciative of Crisis and the services they provide. 
• 27 staff working at Crisis response – majority for 20+ years and they would lose years of 

benefits and retirement and longevity; they have talked to her about their concerns.   
 
Commissioner Small said this was not a new idea and that others have looked at consolidated 
crisis response centers but history has shown that it has not been able to sustain itself.  He said he 
has been reviewing this issue for some time and that Benton County was one of the last counties 
to keep Crisis Response and not contract out; additionally, there was a move by the State to 
combine mental health and chemical dependency.   
 



 - 9 - 

He said he believed it would reduce liability and free up additional funds for individuals and he 
has talked to multiple individuals in the community and believed this was the way to go.  He said 
he did not currently have the answers to the questions Ms. Robb brought up regarding funds 
spent and the lease, although he believed there was a clause to get out of the lease if they were no 
longer providing the services.  He said he was not talking about wasting funds but being more 
efficient.  He also talked about the $2 million in reserves that could be used for closeout and 
operational costs and that making this move would free up about $15,000 per month in 
administrative costs to be used on services out in the communities.   
 
He said that Rick Weaver, CEO of Comprehensive Mental Health, talked about complaints 
received for mental health services and the use of funds and that he agreed with the move to try 
and privatize.  He also talked about a potential RFQ process and there was not really anybody in 
this area that could do this except Lourdes since it was such a unique and specialized service.   
 
Commissioner Beaver said they needed to fully understand the ramifications of this decision.  
They have talked about footprint reduction and bi-county operations that were not equitable and 
they had a fiduciary responsibility to review this.  He said if other counties have moved in 
another direction, he wanted to take a look at it.   
 
Chairman Delvin said he has talked with Senator Hargrove about consolidation of mental health 
and chemical dependency and that they were moving that way.   
 
Ms. Robb said they were currently already integrated: Crisis had a mental health division and 
chemical dependency division and they had been very involved in moving forward on that issue 
and felt like they were on top of it.    
 
Chairman Delvin said this was their first initial discussion and if they ended up going this way, 
he didn’t want the employees sitting around waiting.  He said the liability issues and financial 
issues needed to be looked at very carefully.  He also suggested they might involve the public to 
get their opinion on this issue.   
 
Ms. Robb commented that Mr. Weaver had presented at a meeting on the mental health system 
and the continuum of care they had in Yakima and that he wanted them to present to the State 
that the Tri-Cities had a system of care that was working very well and cohesively.  She 
commented on the steps they took to make sure they had a system of consolidated care (by 
regularly meeting with entities including referrals and the law enforcement agencies). 
 
Mr. Cable said when the Board was evaluating complaints about behavioral health to remember 
that it was riddled with complaints due to the nature of the business, to examine it and put value 
in it, but take it with a grain of salt.   
 
Barbara Mead, vice president of Behavioral Health for Lourdes Counseling Center said that 
Lourdes had been a provider for inpatient and outpatient services for behavioral health services 
in the community and their services had grown tremendously.  She commented that Crisis 
Response staff were present in their building about 4 times a week.  Additionally, she said that 



 - 10 - 

part of the collaboration was with bi-county police and sheriffs to add the jail diversion program 
and continuum of care.  She said she was available if the Board had questions.  
 
Other Business 
 
Commissioner Small said that an executive session was not needed.   
 
Chairman Delvin discussed the following: 
 
Animal Control Authority  
 
He said the County received a request from Pasco to have a discussion with the about animal 
control.  They requested a tour of Benton County’s facility and asked to have a financial person 
and Commissioner present.  The Board agreed it was not necessary and there was not anything to 
talk about at this point so Chairman Delvin said he would reply to the email.   
 
Conservation Futures Issues 
 
He received an email from Scott Woodward requesting to go back to the ballot on this issue in 
the fall.  They asked if they could present something to the Board and if they would consider 
referring it to the ballot.  He said he personally did not have a problem with it going to the public 
for a vote.   
 
Commissioner Beaver said they already let the voters vote and they said no so he thought they 
were done.  Commissioner Small said he thought they really needed to wait for a few years to 
bring it up again.   
 
Long Term Aging Council  
 
Chairman Delvin said that Mayor Pro Tem Lemley, Richland City Council had agreed to be 
appointed to the Long Term Aging Council.   Ms. Smith Kelty said she would get the paperwork 
ready for the Board to appoint Mr. Lemley.   
 
Public Service Recognition Week 
 
Benton County was asked to do a proclamation and attend an event at the Southridge Sports 
Complex on May 7.  The Board agreed to sign a proclamation. 
 
Yakima Basin Fish & Wildlife Board 
 
There was an open position on this Board for one of the city positions if any of the Board 
members knew of someone to nominate or recommend.   
 
  



 - 11 - 

Vouchers 
 
Check Date: 04/03/2015 
 
Warrant #: 119486-119622 
Total all funds: $3,285.59 
 
Transfer #: 04031501-04031509 
Total all funds: $894,705.78 
 
Warrant #: 119631-119740 
Total all funds:  $490,452.28  
 
Total amounts approved by fund can be reviewed in the Benton County Auditor’s Office. 
 
Resolutions 
 
2015-257: Lease Agreement w/Xerox Corporation for Three Copiers 
2015-258: Line Item Transfer, Fund No. 0131-101, Dept. 000 
2015-259: Award of Superior Court Jury Seating to Brutzman’s, Inc. 
2015-260: Amended Agreement w/K Larsen for Community Prevention Coordinator 

Services  
2015-261: Purchase of Dell Tower 5810Workstation   
2015-262: Establishing Updated Charge Back Procedure; Rescinding Resolution 98-036 
2015-263: Solution Support Services Agreement w/Ciber, Inc. for Crimes Software     
2015-264: District Court Public Defense Agreement w/S Johnson  
2015-265: Short Plat Vacation ~ SPV 2014-006 
2015-266: Authorizing Repair Services From Mel’s Intercity Collision, Inc.  
2015-267: Purchase Authorization of Ford Explorer from Columbia Ford   
2015-268: Purchase of Diesel Fuel from Byrnes Oil Company 
2015-269: Interlocal Agreement w/State of WA DSHS for Juvenile Justice & Rehabilitation 

Admin.    
2015-270: Amended Memorandum of Understanding w/WA State Dept of Corrections of 

Coyote Ridge Corrections Center 
2015-271: Line Item Transfer, Fund No. 0126-101, Dept. 000 
2015-272: Line Item Transfer, Fund No. 0000-101, Dept. 121 
2015-273: Purchase Authorization from the Trial Improvement Fund  
2015-274: Line Item Transfer, Fund No. 0000-101, Dept. 138 
2015-275: Line Item Transfer, Fund No. 0000-101, Dept. 123 
2015-276: Contract w/Harms Engineering, Inc. 
2015-277: Approval of SPV 2015-002 
2015-278: Approval of Change Order No. 2 – G2 Commercial Construction, Inc. 
2015-279: Approval of Change Order No. 3 – G2 Commercial Construction, Inc. 
2015-280: Approval of Change Order No. 4 – G2 Commercial Construction, Inc. 
2015-281: Approval of Change Order No. 5 – G2 Commercial Construction, Inc.  



 - 12 - 

There being no further business before the Board, the meeting adjourned at approximately 10:40 
a.m.  
 
 
_______________________________   ______________________________ 
Clerk of the Board      Chairman 
 


